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ABOUT THE COVER

The strength of CARD Mutually Reinforcing Institutions (CARD MRI) is more 
evident in the face of adversity. For thirty-five years, the group of social 
development institutions has been fighting its way in the wilderness of what 
may be the most poignant obstacle of many—poverty.

As we continue our journey of helping more marginalized communities get past 
the poverty line and maneuver the effects of a health crisis such as the COVID-19 
pandemic, we do not plan of leaving anyone behind. We aim to pull the ropes 
as one.

Our covers seek to provide a glimpse of how our communities, both families and 
digital facilities, join forces to pull up and rise from the effects of the pandemic. 
From the head of the household, down to the next generation, our communities 
have a role to take in recovering from this obstacle.

With our front cover, the digital hand plays a vital role in reaching out to families 
and supporting them through technology-driven initiatives.

With our back cover, we want to show the true faces of people whom we honor 
and empower through our devotion and commitment to fighting poverty.
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MISSION

VISION
CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. envisions 
to become top-of-mind insurance agency 
of Micro-insurance products and services.

CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. is committed 
to provide life and non-life insurance products 
and services in real-time at the most affordable 
premium rate to client-members of CARD MRI 
and its affiliates.
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OPPORTUNITIES 
FROM 

UNCERTAINTIES
MESSAGE FROM THE FOUNDER 
AND CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

DR. JAIME ARISTOTLE B. ALIP
FOUNDER AND CHAIRMAN EMERITUS

After experiencing the grave effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic in the past year, we 
now see a ray of light shining upon us. We 
have ultimately learned to adapt to the 
new normal, and the families we serve 
are slowly standing up again, on their way 
towards recovery. Finally, 2021 is a year of 
hope and restoration.

CARD MRI Insurance Agency (CaMIA) has 
had its fair share of trials and tribulations, 
having been in the business of providing 
non-life and life insurances for the Filipino 
poor for over a decade. Since day one, I 
can absolutely attest that we have faced 
and overcame many daunting challenges 
that could have compromised our services 
had we not been a passionate advocate for 
development. Our hearts have always been 
fully committed to uplifting and protecting 
the lives of millions of underserved 
families and communities in the country, 
and not even this pandemic can stop us 
from reaching our vision of a poverty-free 
Philippines.

We understood how great our 
responsibility was to our clients’ well-being 
especially during this pandemic. We knew 
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we had to quickly adapt our strategies and 
operations in order to continue providing 
our integrated microinsurance services to 
them. While the first year of the pandemic 
resulted in several setbacks for us, we 
made sure to learn from our experiences in 
2020 in order to do better. Rather than let 
this pandemic overwhelm us, we at CARD 
MRI took it as an opportunity to strengthen 
ourselves and become better agents for 
social change.

This year, I am pleased to share that CaMIA 
has finally set out a course to mitigate the 
effects of the pandemic and continuously 
provide its microinsurance products and 
services despite limitations. Thanks to 
our konek2CARD Agents, our economic 
frontliners who deliver the services of the 
konek2CARD mobile banking application to 
their fellow clients, we have provided more 
CARD MRI clients with microinsurance 
policies. Alongside this, we have also 
equipped our MICs to generate sales 
of insurance premium through CaMIA’s 
promotional activities that aim to augment 
the operations of the microinsurance 
agency. 

When it comes to evolving alongside 
the fast-changing needs of our clients at 
CARD MRI, CaMIA is also in the works of 
providing new products and services for 
tricyle drivers and operators, small business 
owners, farmers, and even children. 

These were some of the successful efforts 
we have continued and enhanced during 

this pandemic. It is reassuring to see how 
big the difference was compared to our 
previous accomplishments from last year, 
and I am confident that CaMIA will always 
be ready to innovate and adapt whenever 
the need for it arises in the years to come.

The year 2021 was truly the moment 
where we were able to triumphantly 
bounce back from the pandemic. Having 
made full use of our past experiences from 
2020, CaMIA was able to vigorously grow 
while still maintaining the most trusted 
and top-quality services our clients and 
policyholders have come to know.  Of 
course, none of this would have been 
possible without the full commitment 
of our loyal staff who have stayed with 
us through thick and thin during this 
pandemic. They have exemplified the core 
values of CARD MRI during these trying 
times, and it is encouraging to know that 
the future of CaMIA will be in good hands. 

While the pandemic is still ongoing, I am 
confident that we will be ceaseless in 
protecting the lives of millions of Filipino 
families from uncertain adversities 
that occur in their lives. We turned 
the uncertainties of the pandemic into 
opportunities for us to learn and to grow, 
and now CaMIA has advanced into an 
empowered microinsurance agency, 
eager to enhance its services across the 
Philippines. Our bond has never been 
stronger, and now I eagerly look forward to 
what we can do more for our clients and 
communities in the years to come.

Message from the Founder and Chairman Emeritus 7



A RETURN 
TO FORM
MESSAGE FROM THE 
MANAGING DIRECTOR

ARISTEO A. DEQUITO
MANAGING DIRECTOR

The year 2021 for CARD MRI 
Microinsurance Agency (CaMIA) was a 
time of revitalization. It was during this 
year that we were able to fully recuperate 
from the many setbacks we experienced 
when the pandemic began. By intensifying 
our efforts to reach communities despite 
limitations, we were able to strengthen 
our operations so that we could continue 
to provide our microinsurance services that 
are undeniably relevant today.

CaMIA has continued to serve its 
policyholders with affordable and reliable 
microinsurance products since 2007. As 
an institution that takes pride in its hands-
on approach and serving its policyholders 
personally, the second year of the pandemic 
was no cakewalk. The limitations imposed 
by the ever-changing local guidelines was 
tough to deal with and has pushed us to 
be innovative and creative to continue our 
dedicated service to people.
  
Handling the Situation
With the issues brought about by the 
pandemic, CaMIA’s Microinsurance 
Coordinators (MICs) had a challenging time 
physically reaching the people in need of 
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security. With the MICs limited movement, 
CaMIA sought out the help of our 
konek2CARD Agents, members accredited 
by CARD MRI’s financial institutions 
to conduct transactions within their 
communities, to reach those who need the 
institution’s products and services. Through 
the agents’ extensive reach, we were able 
to talk to and to help those interested in 
our products that are handy in tough times 
such as this. 

Another aid to the recovery of our clients 
at CARD MRI is through our microfinance 
institutions. By waiving their loan 
payments, our clients may again apply for 
loans without the fear of being unable to 
pay their dues on time. Because of this, 
clients may now confidently avail our 
microinsurance products that will help 
them get back on their feet.

As a tropical country, the country is 
aware that typhoons take no break even 
during the pandemic, and when Typhoons 
Kiko and Jolina struck Ilocos Norte and 
Pangasinan, CaMIA made sure to be with 
our communities. Typhoons, floodings, and 
even the pandemic won’t be enough to 
stop CaMIA in serving the people. 

Working with What We Have
Because of what the situation demands 
of us, CaMIA had to become innovative. 
With the technology available to us, we 
were able to adapt and to adjust to what 
is asked of us. Through virtual gatherings 

and seminars, the capacity-building and 
even the relationship building between our 
policyholders and staff did not see a sign of 
halting. Instead, it continued to progress 
steadily. 

Making use of social media, CaMIA is 
able to inform and keep in touch with the 
public. Through the CaMIA Facebook page, 
the people are constantly informed and 
updated on the latest products, tips, and 
know-hows of its products and services. 
Emphasizing on the significance of 
microinsurance helps us give our clients a 
sense of peace of mind, letting them know 
that CaMIA has their backs.

Achievements alone are not enough to put 
our policyholders at ease. To deliver the 
kind of service the institution is known for, 
CaMIA must make steps forward despite 
the obstacles in front of us to keep our 
promise. For 2022, CaMIA has several 
products planned that will hopefully further 
elevate our policy holders’ experience with 
us. 

These are just some of the plans that CaMIA 
has in store for 2022. Our achievements 
and plans to be successful rely on our 
collaborative effort. Through the challenges 
of 2021, the significance of working 
together for the good of all has become 
more apparent. With this lesson in mind, 
CaMIA, together with CARD MRI, now faces 
the coming years with confidence to serve 
the Filipino people. 
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RISING 
THROUGH 
ADVERSITIES
MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRPERSON

JOCELYN D. DEQUITO
CHAIRPERSON

In all the years of service to empower the 
marginalized sectors during calamities and 
tragedies, we pursued the transformative 
and innovative direction, putting the clients’ 
needs first. When the COVID-19 pandemic 
suddenly hit, our daily living aspects 
shifted into the new normal. Adapting to 
the circumstances was challenging, but it 
also created an opportunity for us to be 
resourceful and to strengthen the digital 
initiatives of our institution.

When faced with adversities, clients lean 
on the insurance products we provide, 
and we recognize that the relevance of 
the products and the urgency of delivery 
are most important. When mobility and 
deployment became the biggest challenge, 
we turned to technology and the clients 
present in various service areas—the 
konek2CARD Agents. These are clients of 
CARD MRI who took it upon themselves 
to act as the economic frontliners in their 
communities, ushering in the benefits of 
konek2CARD mobile banking application to 
their fellow clients. These strategies ensure 
that more people are reached and assisted 
despite the restrictions imposed for health 
and safety. 

10 CaMIA Annual Report 2021



Social media and messaging platforms 
are also primary instruments in reaching 
clients and agents. These familiar digital 
platforms have allowed us to orient on-site 
konek2CARD agents and establish constant 
communication with the Microinsurance 
Coordinators (MICs). The social media 
platform, Facebook, also served as a 
channel for insurance product promotion. 

However, mobility was not the only 
challenge CaMIA and its members faced 
during the pandemic. When the clients’ 
sources of income became uncertain 
due to movement restrictions, clients 
became hesitant to apply for loans, while 
some missed premium payments due to 
the drastic economic change. However, 
with the support and utmost generosity 
of the microfinance institutions of CARD 
MRI, the clients with lapsed policy can 
renew without the contestability period, 
which encouraged them to continue their 
insurance policy. 

The challenges we faced made us realize 
that the strongest asset of our institution 
is our relationships. We count on a strong 
relationship with our partners to support 
us to consistently serve our member-clients 

and policyholders. As a result of these 
efforts and collaboration, we were all able 
to bounce back and continue on the trail of 
our 10-20-80 strategic direction with a goal 
of assisting 20 million clients and insuring 
the lives of 80 million individuals by 2030. 

Our commitment to ensuring a brighter 
tomorrow for our policyholders drives us 
to improve our services by modifying and 
creating more comprehensive and inclusive 
products to cover other marginalized 
sectors and their families. With continuous 
collaboration with CARD Pioneer 
Microinsurance Inc. (CPMI), we can all look 
forward to more relevant products to assist 
farmers, micro-business owners, tricycle 
drivers, operators, individuals, and families. 
The extensive utilization of digital platforms 
can also be expected in the coming year.  
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WORKING HAND 
IN HAND FOR 
RECOVERY

There is no doubt that the COVID-19 
pandemic altered the course of conducting 
business and the mobility of people. For us 
who depend greatly on our Microinsurance 
Coordinators (MICs) to bring our services 
closer to our policyholders, CARD MRI 
Insurance Agency (CaMIA) encountered 
a great challenge when our deployment 
of MICs to communities became limited. 
Because of this, we were challenged in 
terms of sales numbers. 

To address this challenge, Dr. Jaime 
Aristotle B. Alip, our very own founder, 
floated the idea of tapping konek2Card 
agents to help sell the products to clients. 

VENER S. ABELLERA
PRESIDENT AND GENERAL MANAGER

To make this possible, we have conducted 
an orientation with konek2CARD Agents 
as our distribution channel in 12 pilot 
provincial offices (POs) in the Philippines. 

Working with konek2CARD agents as 
referral agents has proven to be successful. 
We only started by the fourth quarter 
of the year, but we have generated a 
total of 1.3 million policies by the end 
of 2021. Being the go-to person of their 
fellow clients when it comes to doing 
their financial transactions using the 
konek2CARD mobile banking application, 
our konek2CARD Agents are indeed the 
best people to help us provide our services 
to more CARD clients. The proximity of 
konek2CARD agents is also practical in 
instances of localized lockdowns when the 
MICs cannot personally visit the clients for 
the transactions. 

Still, even with the challenges our MICs 
encountered this year, we are proud to 
witness the success of their promotional 
activity, 10-10-10 New Policy Sold, with a 
total amount of PhP31,449,540 additional 
premium generated, an accomplishment 
we are glad to have worked out this 2021.
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Furthermore, the extension of the Balik 
Sagip Promo until September 30, 2021, has 
also improved the sales and encouraged 
policyholders with a lapsed policy to 
renew without the contestability period. 
Putting aside the increased sales, the 
most important value of this promo is the 
immediate activation of the benefits at the 
moment the policyholders renew CaMIA 
products, especially the Sagip, Kabuklod, 
and CARD Care. Availing the promo secures 
the policyholders’ benefits in sudden 
sickness, calamities, or tragedies.

Another challenge the pandemic created 
was the uncertainty of stable livelihood, 
which made the clients hesitate to enroll. 
There are cases in which some of the clients 
are reluctant to apply for loans in fear that 
they would not be able to pay. That is 
why we are grateful that the microfinance 
institutions (MFIs) of CARD MRI, namely 
CARD, Inc. (A Microfinance NGO), CARD 
Bank, CARD SME Bank, and CARD MRI 
RIZAL BANK, Inc. (CARD RBI) were generous 
to waive their policy to allow interested 
clients to renew their insurance policy 
regardless of their loan balances. 

When it comes to claims validation, we are 
also proud to share how our officers and 
staff at CaMIA, assisted in the validation of 
our SAGIP Plan and BINHI crop insurance 
policyholders who were affected by 
Typhoons Kiko and Jolina in Ilocos Norte 
and Pangasinan through the Trigger-Based 
Approach.

These were but some of our achievements 
this 2021 that have all contributed to our 
recovery as a microinsurance agency. Even 
with challenges underway, our recovery is 
proof that we have endured together with 
our policyholders and their family. 

The Digital Touchbase
Although difficult, CaMIA made sure that 
we met all the operations on the ground 
when we could. We started in July to 
conduct meetings with Area Managers, 
Unit Managers, and Regional Directors to 
get their support, but whenever lockdown 
restrictions prevent us from attending 
on-site meetings, we always turn to 
technology.

President and General Manager’s Report 13



We also conducted several virtual programs 
to continuously enhance our officers’ and 
staff’s knowledge and capacities, as well as 
to strengthen our relationship with them. 
Handling Millennials, Core Values and 
Culture, Bookkeeping National Certificate 
NCIII by TESDA, and Kapihan Session with 
Kuya MD are just some of the virtual 
programs we have conducted for our 
employees. 

Further, we also used social media 
platforms and Facebook Messenger to 
ensure constant communication with our 
MICs. CaMIA created a group chat with the 
MICs, and we encouraged them to form a 
group chat for their centers to touch base 
with them. 

Understanding the members’ situations 
leads us to create ways to ease the 
hesitation and worries of the members, 
which prevent them from availing insurance 
products that can be beneficial to them in 
the long run. In confidence, we can also 
say that one of the reasons why members 

stayed with us is because they recognize the 
importance of insurance when calamities 
come. We communicated the significance 
of our insurances through our Facebook 
page and the various materials we post 
therein including May Initiative Ako, May 
ER Care ka na ba, Sagip Plan Promotion, 
and Monthly Top Fan Winners. These posts  
contributed an increase of Likes from 
21,574 to 22,179 and a total of 110,651 
Reach, proof that our initiatives reach our 
members through the digital space. We 
believe that our constant presence and 
the consistency of our services provides 
financial resiliency to our members and 
gives them peace of mind. 

This year, we have also proven to be 
digitally active in our journey to providing 
insurances. In collaboration with CARD 
Pioneer Microinsurance, Inc. (CPMI), we 
pilot-tested insurance selling through 
a mobile application called Nan.Ai. 
Many enhancements were made to this 
application to ensure that this digital 
platform will effectively run for its purpose. 
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Rising Together for a Secured 
Future
This 2022, CaMIA will continue to expand 
its services to members by launching four 
new products. TODA-Max, designed to 
provide tricycle drivers and operators with 
insurance, already started in December 
2021. However, due to physical distancing 
requirements in the country, we are yet to 
polish this execution. 

Second is ProteKITA, a micro-business 
interruption coverage for store owners with 
a physical structure. It covers typhoons and 
flood calamities. This product has been 
pilot tested in 2021, and we expect a full 
launch this 2022.

The third products are Ipon Protek and 
Ipon Protek Jr. for savers. The savers’ 
accounts are tied with insurance. As the 
years progress, the savers can increase 
the benefits with a ceiling of PhP500,000. 
These products aim to encourage savings 
mobilization.

The fourth product is the enhanced BINHI 
for farmers. This will be deployed in areas 
where drought is extensive. This product 
will be digitally approached for claims 
validation using a satellite’s soil-moisture 
index. This system confirms the drought 
situation in the concerned area. 

We believe that our products and services 
are instilled in the hearts and minds of our 
members because we are always there in 
times of need. With this, we hope that our 
efforts and accomplishments inspire and 
influence other microinsurance companies 
to do the same.
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MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Vener S. Abellera

President and General Manager

Mr. Allan Rey L. Sarmiento
Operations Director

Mr. Ely B. Rodriguez
Deputy Director for Insurance Services

Mr. Archie Menchavez
Deputy Director for Insurance Services

Ms. Jennelyn Meneses
Manager for Underwriting and Claims

Ms. Mary Ann Resplandor
Director for Admin and Finance

Mr. Gerardo R. Batarlo
Deputy Director for Insurance Services

Ms. Marivic Monroy
Finance Manager for Taxation

Mr. Billy James Calderon
Regional Manager for Insurance Services
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Ms. Jocelyn D. Dequito

Chairperson

Ms. Lyneth L. Derequito
Vice Chairperson

Ms. May S. Dawat
Director

Ms. Juliana B. De Leon
Director

Ms. Vida T. Chiong
Independent Director

Mr. Vener S. Abellera
President

Ms. Cynthia B. Baldeo
Director

Mr. Wilfredo Llanto
Independent Director

Mr. Rolando A. Robles
Independent Director
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OUR PARTNERS
•	 CARD Pioneer MicroInsurance (CPMI)

•	 Pioneer Insurance and Surety Corporation (PISC)

•	 Pioneer Life, Inc.

•	 Pacific Cross (former Blue Cross)

•	 PhilCare

•	 RIMANSI Mutual Solutions Insurance Agency, Inc. (RMSI)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. (the Company), which
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the statements of
income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash
flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

 Tel: (632) 8891 0307
Fax: (632) 8819 0872
ey.com/ph

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken
as a whole.  The supplementary information required under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 in Note 24 is
presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of the management of CARD MRI Insurance
Agency, Inc.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the
basic financial statements.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Miguel U. Ballelos, Jr.
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 109950
Tax Identification No. 241-031-088
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001, August 25, 2021, valid until April 15, 2024
SEC Partner Accreditation No. 109950-SEC (Group A)

Valid to cover audit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions
SEC Firm Accreditation No. 0001-SEC (Group A)

Valid to cover audit of 2021 to 2025 financial statements of SEC covered institutions
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-114-2022, January 20, 2022, valid until January 19, 2025
PTR No. 8853488, January 3, 2022, Makati City

March 31, 2022

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2021 2020

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) P=10,395,815 P=7,532,305
Short-term investment (Note 5) 18,840,151 2,333,964
Loans and receivables (Note 6) 7,889,398 16,055,137
Other assets (Note 7) 8,405,851 3,614,601

45,531,215 29,536,007

Noncurrent Assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

(FVOCI) (Note 8) 89,759,758 61,940,354
Long-term investment (Note 10) – 3,900,000
Property and equipment (Note 11) 311,862 335,335
Right-of-use asset (Notes 11 and 17) 1,958,947 2,147,279
Investment properties (Note 12) 6,664,558 6,987,858
Deferred tax assets (Note 18) 276,033 780,363
Pension asset - net (Note 16) 1,988,253 2,498,940

100,959,411 78,590,129

P=146,490,626 P=108,126,136

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 13) P=15,464,791 P=17,047,788
Income tax payable – 4,400,707

15,464,791 21,448,495

Equity
Capital stock (Note 14) 50,000,000 50,000,000
Retained earnings (Note 14) 94,266,486 61,372,717
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan (Note 16) (1,888,655) (1,635,685)
Unrealized loss on financial asset at FVOCI (Note 8) (11,351,996) (23,059,391)

131,025,835 86,677,641

P=146,490,626 P=108,126,136

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020

REVENUE
Commission income (Note 21) P=93,634,616 P=86,485,065
Dividend income (Note 8) 8,419,531 3,360,964
Administration fee 1,948,851 1,333,905
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 7 and 10) 388,759 728,693
Other income (Note 12) 289,128 2,068,844

104,680,885 93,977,471

EXPENSES
Salaries and allowances 12,034,751 9,232,594
Transportation and travel 4,963,754 5,371,541
Professional fees 3,933,865 2,760,898
Program monitoring and evaluation 2,349,763 3,450,615
Information technology expense 2,034,372 2,053,396
Rent (Note 17) 1,719,782 69,996
Depreciation (Notes 7, 11 and 12) 1,439,684 2,243,750
Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses (Notes 6 and 9) (1,434,056) 3,264,463
Security and janitorial 1,150,186 1,012,117
Supplies 871,217 478,844
Insurance 860,879 541,783
Advertising and promotion 855,499 150,076
Repairs and maintenance 610,265 685,744
Pension expense (Note 16) 492,669 340,912
Training and development 424,435 855,183
Light and water 350,564 63,118
Communication and postage 205,421 287,597
Taxes and licenses 203,999 3,608,216
Interest expense (Note 17) 102,030 160,370
Representation and entertainment 76,948 130,275
Other expenses 178,201 176,574

33,424,228 36,938,062

INCOME BEFORE SHARE IN NET LOSS OF ASSOCIATE 71,256,657 57,039,409

SHARE IN NET LOSS OF ASSOCIATE (Note 9) – –

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 71,256,657 57,039,409

PROVISION FOR TAX (Note 18) 13,362,888 18,334,532

NET INCOME P=57,893,769 P=38,704,877

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020

NET INCOME P=57,893,769 P=38,704,877

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent

periods:
 Unrealized gain on financial asset at fair value through

other comprehensive income (Note 8) 11,707,395 (18,734,072)
Items that will not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent

periods:
 Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan - net of tax

(Note 16) (252,970) (122,649)
11,454,425 (18,856,721)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=69,348,194 P=19,848,156

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=71,256,657 P=57,039,409
Adjustments for:

Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses (Notes 6 and 9) (1,434,056) 3,264,463
Depreciation (Notes 7, 11 and 12) 1,439,684 2,243,750
Write-off of receivables and other assets (Notes 6 and 7) – (1,188,637)
Interest income (Notes 4, 5, 7 and 10) (388,759) (728,693)
Retirement expense (Note 16) 492,669 340,912
Interest expense (Note 17) 102,030 160,370
Other income on pre-termination of lease contract – (27,126)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:

Loans and receivables 11,240,437 19,291,014
Short-term investments (16,506,187) 10,522,326
Other current assets (4,773,680) 885,724

Decrease in trade and other payables (662,355) (16,457,480)
Net cash flows generated from operations 60,766,440 75,346,032
Income tax paid (15,707,065) (15,980,042)
Contributions made to the retirement fund (Note 16) (163,676) (77,343)
Interest received 233,296 585,921
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 5945,128,995 59,874,568

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:

Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 8) (16,112,009) (17,193,317)
Property and equipment excluding right-of-use assets (Note 11) (130,804) (197,382)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (16,242,813) (17,390,699)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (Note 14) (25,000,000) (55,000,000)
Payment of lease liabilities (Note 17) (1,022,672) (2,252,739)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (26,022,672) (57,252,739)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,863,510) (14,768,870)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,532,305 7,532,305

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR (Note 4) P=10,395,815 P=7,532,305

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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CARD MRI INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

CARD MRI Insurance Agency, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in the Philippines and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on August 2, 2007
primarily to engage in the business of selling life and non-life insurance and other related services.
36.63% of the Company’s common stock is owned by CARD, Inc., a social development
organization incorporated in the Philippines.

The registered office address of the Company is 120 M. Paulino St., corner P. Burgos St.,
Brgy. VII-D, San Pablo City, Laguna.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis.
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (P=), the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.  All amounts are rounded off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS).

The Company availed of the exemption from the mandatory adoption of PFRS for Small and
Medium-sized Entities (PFRS for SMEs) on the grounds that the Company is reporting to a Company
that is reporting under full PFRS.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of new standards effective as at January 1, 2021.  The Company has not early adopted
any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.  Unless
otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the financial
statements of the Company.

 Amendments to PFRS 9, PAS 39, PFRS 7, PFRS 4 and PFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform – Phase 2
The amendments addresses issues that might affect financial reporting after the reform of an
interest rate benchmark, including its replacement with alternative benchmark rates.

 Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond June 30, 2021
The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease
modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.  A
lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if it
meets all of the following criteria:

o The rent concession is a direct consequence of COVID-19;
o The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the

same as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding the change;
o Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before

June 30, 2021; and
o There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
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A lessee that applies this practical expedient will account for any change in lease payments
resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a
change that is not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment.  The amendments had no
impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Significant Accounting Polices

Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting period.  Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.  The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable
 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid instruments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less
and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
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The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them.  The Company
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL,
transaction costs.  Receivables are measured at the transaction price as determined under PFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal
amount outstanding.  This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument
level.  Financial assets with cash flows which are not SPPI are generally classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows.  The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.  Financial assets classified
and measured at amortized cost are held within a business model that holds financial assets to collect
contractual cash flows.  Those classified and measured at FVOCI are held within a business model
that holds financial assets both to collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

 Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments),
 Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments),
 Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon

derecognition (equity instruments), and
 Financial assets at FVTPL.

The Company does not have debt instruments at FVOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost include ‘Cash and cash equivalents’, ‘Short-term
investments’, ‘Loans and receivables’, ‘Long-term investments’ and security deposits recorded in
‘Other assets’.

Financial assets at FVOCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as
equity instruments designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity under PAS 32,
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.  The classification is determined on
an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income.
When the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gains and losses previously are never recycled to profit
or loss.  Any dividends earned on holding these equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss
under ‘Dividend income’ account.

The Company has designated its investments in unquoted equity instruments under this category.
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Reclassification
The Company can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model for managing
those financial assets changes.  Accordingly, the Company is required to reclassify financial assets:
(i) from amortized cost to fair value, if the objective of the business model changes so that the
amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and (ii) from fair value to amortized cost, if the objective of
the business model changes so that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of
the instrument’s contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria.

A change in business model occurs when the Company either begins or ceases to perform an activity
that is significant to its operations.  A change in the objective of the Company’s business model will
be effected only at the beginning of the next reporting period following the change in the business
model.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the statement of financial position) when:

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control over the asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
"pass-through" arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership.  When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement.  In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated
liability.  The transferred asset and associated liability are measured on the basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Company could be required to repay.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments
not held at FVTPL.  ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.  The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

ECLs are recognized in two stages.  For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).  For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For a financial asset with no significant financing component, the Company applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs.  Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.  The Company has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
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forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  Management of the
expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

b) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.  Financial liabilities are contractual arrangements that result in the Company having an
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
 Financial liabilities at amortized cost (payables)

The Company does not have financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and borrowings and derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (payables)
This pertains to financial liabilities which are not designated at FVTPL upon inception of the liability.
This category applies to the Company’s trade payables, accrued expenses and other payables
presented as ‘Trade and other payables’ in the statement of financial position.

After initial measurement, financial liabilities not qualified as and not designated as FVTPL are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method.  Amortized cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of
income.

c) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.  The Company assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is
not contingent on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event of
default, and event of solvency or bankruptcy of the Company and all of the counterparties.
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Property and Equipment
The Company’s property and equipment consist of equipment, furniture and fixtures, and right-of-use
assets.

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any impairment in
value.  The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including
nonrefundable taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged against the statement of
income.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an
increase in the future benefits expected to be obtained from the use of property and equipment beyond
its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of
the asset.

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use).  Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.  The initial cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized,
initial direct costs incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received and estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the
lease term, the recognized right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of their estimated useful life and lease term.  Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the EUL of the respective assets.  The
EULs of the depreciable assets follows:

Years
Transportation equipment 7
Computer equipment 5
Office equipment 3
Office furniture and fixtures 3

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further
charge for depreciation is made with respect to these assets.

The useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and
method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of
property and equipment.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the statement of income in the period the asset is derecognized.
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Investment Properties
Investment properties are properties (land and/or buildings) held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation (or both).  Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value.

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of or when they are
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal.  The
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in
profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Depreciation of investment properties is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives (EUL) of ten (10) years.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.  If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s or cash-generating unit (CGU)’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.  The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  When the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.  In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are
taken into account.  If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded
companies or other available fair value indicators.

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or have decreased.  If such indication
exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount.  A previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  The reversal is limited so
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation
increase.

Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs)
CWTs pertain to the taxes paid by the Company that is withheld by its counterparty for the payment
of its expenses and other purchases.  These CWTs are initially recorded at cost as an asset under
“Other assets” account.

At the end of each tax-reporting deadline, these CWTs may either be offset against future income tax
payable or be claimed as a refund from the taxation authorities at the option of the Company.  At the
end of each reporting period, an assessment for impairment is performed as to the recoverability of
these CWTs.
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Value-Added Tax (VAT)
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT except:

 where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost acquisition from the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

 receivable and payable that are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of tax recoverable from the tax authority is included as part of ‘Other assets’ in the
statement of financial position.

Net Pension Liability/Asset
The Company operates a defined benefit pension plan which requires contributions to be made to a
separately administered fund.

The net pension liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any effect of
limiting a net benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

 Service cost
 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
 Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service cost, past service cost and gains or losses on non-routine
settlements are recognized as expense in profit or loss.  Past service costs are recognized when plan
amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated periodically by independent
qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined pension liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined pension liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined pension liability or asset.  Net interest
on the net defined pension liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in profit or loss.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined pension liability) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements are
not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance
policies.  Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid directly
to the Company.  Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market
price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or
expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the
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settlement of the related obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present
value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Equity
Capital Stock
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.  Proceeds in excess of par
value are recognized under equity as “Additional paid-in capital” in the statement of financial
position.  Incremental costs incurred which are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent all accumulated profits or losses of the Company and all other capital
adjustments.

Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized upon transfer of services to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

Revenues within the scope of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized upon transfer of services to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized within the
scope of PFRS 15:

Commission income
The Company recognizes commission income based on premium billings upon rendition of services
to the insured and upon issuance of policies by the insurer.  Premiums due from insured are
collectible by the Company for the account of the insurer and are remittable to them within the credit
term.

Administration fee
Administration fee is recognized by the Company upon rendition of the service to its clients.

Other income
Income from other sources is recognized when earned.

Revenues outside the scope of PFRS 15
Interest income
Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, taking into
account the effective yield of the asset.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.
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Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized when it is probable that a decrease in future economic benefits related to a
decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has occurred and the decrease can be measured
reliably.  Expenses are recognized in the statement of income as incurred.

Leases
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Company as a lessee
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets.  The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.  The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees.  The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate.  The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the period on which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of various
IT equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).  It also applies the leases of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases that are considered of low value (i.e., below P=250,000).  Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Income and Other Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the statement of financial position liability method, on all temporary
differences at the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences with certain exceptions.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused
tax credits from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate
income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable
that taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and
carryforward of unused excess of MCIT over RCIT and NOLCO can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets or liabilities, however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income (loss).

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized as other comprehensive income is also
recognized in the Company’s statement of other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.  Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example,
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the
statement of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized under ‘Interest expense’ in the statement of income.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are
not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable.

Events after the End of the Reporting Period
Post year-end events up to the date of the approval of the Board of Directors (BOD) of the financial
statements that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the reporting date
(adjusting events), are reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not
adjusting events, if any, are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material.
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Standards Issued but not yet Effective
Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below.  The Company intends to adopt the
following pronouncements when they become effective. Unless otherwise indicated, the Company
does not expect the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a significant impact on its
financial statements.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2022
 Amendments to PFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework
 Amendments to PAS 16, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
 Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
 Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2018 – 2020 Cycle

- Amendments to PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippines Financial Reporting
Standards, Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

- Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for
derecognition of financial liabilities

- Amendments to PAS 41, Agriculture, Taxation in fair value measurements

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2023
 Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
 Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates
 Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies
 Amendments to PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
 Amendments to PAS 12, Deferred Taxes related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2024
 Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025
 PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

Deferred effectivity
 Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the Company to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses
and the disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities, if any.  The effects of any changes
in judgements and estimates are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably
determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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Judgments
Fair value of financial assets
When the fair values of financial instruments recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical models.  The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair
values.  These judgments may include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as
correlation and volatility for longer dated derivatives.

The carrying values and corresponding fair values of financial instruments as well as the manner in
which fair values were determined are discussed in Note 20.

Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Estimation of allowance for impairment losses of receivables
The Company maintains allowance for impairment losses at a level considered adequate to provide
for potential uncollectible receivables.  The level of this allowance is evaluated by management on
the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the accounts.  These factors include, but are not
limited to, age of balances, financial status of counterparties, and legal opinion on recoverability in
case of legal disputes.  The Company reviews the age and status of receivables and identifies
accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a regular basis.

The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Company made
different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An increase in allowance for impairment losses
would increase recorded expenses and decrease the related asset accounts.

The carrying values and the corresponding allowance for impairment losses are disclosed in Note 6.

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
If the Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its IBR to
measure lease liabilities.  The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.  The IBR therefore reflects
what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.  The
Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as the Company’s borrowing rates from
banks).

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s lease liability amounted to P=1.73 million and
P=1.89 million, respectively (Note 17).

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
income will be available against which these can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely
timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.  The
Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax asset at each reporting date and reduces this to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized deferred tax assets amounting to
P=0.28 million and P=0.78 million, respectively (Note 18).

Retirement and other employee benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits as well as the present
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation
involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases.  Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and the long-term nature of
these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.  The assumed discount rates were
determined using the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the
expected employee benefit payout as of the statement of financial position sate.  The present value of
the retirement liability of the Company is disclosed in Note 16.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2021 2020
Cash on hand P=20,000 P=52,822
Cash in banks (Note 15) 10,375,815 7,479,483

P=10,395,815 P=7,532,305

Cash in banks earn interest that ranged from 0.05% to 0.50% and from 0.05% to 1.50% in 2021 and
2020, respectively.  Interest income earned from cash in banks amounted to P=0.09 million and
P=0.16 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

5. Short-term Investments

Short-term investments are time deposit placements in CARD Bank, Inc. and CARD SME Bank, Inc.
with original maturities of three (3) months to twelve (12) months and earned interest that ranged
from 1.00% to 4.00% and 3.00% to 4.25% in 2021 and 2020.

The rollforward analysis of short-term investments follows:

2021 2020
At January 1 P=2,333,964 P=12,856,290
Additions 16,994,496 5,308,321
Withdrawals (4,388,309) (15,830,647)
Reclassifications 3,900,000 –
At December 31 P=18,840,151 P=2,333,964

Interest income earned from short-term investments amounted to P=0.12 million and P=0.36 million in
2021 and in 2020, respectively.



CaMIA Annual Report 202146

- 15 -

*SGVFS165171*

6. Loans and Receivables

This account consists of:

2021 2020
Accounts receivable:

Related parties (Note 15) P=1,593,914 P=93,565
Others 152,533 3,542,846

Commissions receivable
Related parties (Note 15) 5,665,130 13,512,854

Interest receivable 642,826 504,932
8,054,403 17,654,197

Allowance for impairment losses (165,005) (1,599,060)
P=7,889,398 P=16,055,137

Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 1-30-day terms.  These mostly
consist of receivables from CARD Mutual Benefit Association, Inc. (CARD MBA) for unremitted
DAKILA premiums and receivables from CARD Pioneer Microinsurance, Inc. (CPMI) for
commissions and expenses incurred during marketing and selling of CPMI products.

Commissions receivable are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 1-30-day terms.  These consist
mostly of receivables from CPMI and RIMANSI for commissions on insurance products sold
(Traditional plan, CARD Care, MediCash and DAKILA).

Interest receivable pertains mainly to interest accrued arising from cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investment.

Allowance for impairment loss
The rollforward analysis of allowance for impairment losses on accounts receivable follows:

2021 2020
At January 1 P=1,599,060 P=288,870
Provision (1,434,056) 1,436,843
Write-off – (126,653)
At December 31 P=165,005 P=1,599,060

In 2020, the Company written-off receivables amounting to P=0.13 million that management assessed
to be no longer recoverable.  These receivables were fully provided with allowance in previous
periods.

7. Other Assets

This account consists of:

2021 2020
Financial Asset
Security deposit P=556,657 P=683,578

556,657 683,578

(Forward)
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2021 2020
Nonfinancial Asset
Creditable withholding taxes (CWTs) P=5,228,500 P=3,015,573
Advances for stock subscription 2,500,000 –
Prepaid expense 394,870 453,917
Other assets 296,534 –
Input VAT 131,988 142,568
Supplies inventory 94,276 115,939

8,646,168 3,727,997
9,202,825 4,411,575

Allowance for impairment losses (796,974) (796,974)
P=8,405,851 P=3,614,601

CWTs pertain to unapplied taxes withheld on income payments and are creditable against income tax
due.  The Company determined that the taxes withheld could be recovered in future periods.

Advances for stock subscription is the payment to Matapat Holdings, Inc. which amounted to
P=2.50 million.

A portion of the consumption of supplies used for computer equipment amounting to P=4.75 thousand
is recorded under ‘Depreciation’ in the statement of income in 2020.

In December 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized interest income on the amortization of security
deposits amounting to P=0.02 million and P=0.05 million, respectively.

In 2020, the Company written-off certain creditable withholding taxes that were no longer claimable
as of reporting date amounting to P=1.06 million.  The related allowance was recognized before 2020.

8. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2021 2020
Balance at January 1 P=61,940,354 P=66,286,770
Additions 14,952,860 17,193,317
Unrealized gain (loss) 12,866,544 (18,843,646)
Reclassification (Note 9) – (2,696,087)

P=89,759,758 P=61,940,354

The movements in net unrealized gain (loss) on FVOCI of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
Balance at January 1 (P=23,059,391) (P=4,325,319)
Fair value gain (loss) recognized in OCI 11,707,395 (18,734,072)
Balance at December 31 (P=11,351,996) (P=23,059,391)
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Details of unquoted equity securities follows:

2021 2020

Amount Shares
Percentage

of ownership Amount Shares
Percentage of

ownership
CARD Pioneer Microinsurance,

Inc. (CPMI) P=37,413,478 182,599 2.92% P=28,504,495 146,079 2.90%
CARD Bank, Inc. (CBI) 23,713,957 82,604 3.00% 14,710,333 57,604 1.00%
Rizal Bank, Inc. (RBI) 14,637,490 66,528 6.65% 11,734,800 61,600 11.00%
CARD MRI Property

Management, Inc. (CMPMI) 4,327,725 326,237 8.68% 2,408,407 296,237 10.00%
CARD MRI Holdings, Inc.

(CMHI) 2,913,135 19,625 4.63% 2,085,781 15,625 5.00%
RIMANSI Mutual Solutions

Insurance Agency, Inc. (RMSI) 2,755,470 31,800 11.00% 1,698,035 30,000 12.30%
CARD SME Bank, Inc. (CSME) 3,998,503 63,238 0.42% 798,503 42,325 0.04%

P=89,759,758 P=61,940,354

In 2019, the Company acquired 55,000 preferred shares from RBI amounting to P=11.00 million and
36,000 preferred shares from ASENSO amounting to P=1.89 million.  The Company entered into an
agreement with ASENSO in 2020 for the return of the original amount it invested in ASENSO.

In 2020, the Company acquired additional common shares from CMPMI amounting to P=7.00 million,
17,108 preferred shares from CBI amounting to P=1.71 million, and 6,600 preferred shares from RBI
amounting to P=1.32 million. On October 15, 2020, the Company acquired 42,325 shares from CSME
amounting to P=6.24 million.

In 2021, the Company acquired additional preferred shares from CBI amounting to P=5.0 million,
CMRBI amounting to P=1.0 million, and common shares from CMPMI amounting to P=3.00 million,
CPMI amounting to P=3.07 million, CSMEB amounting to P=2.09 million, CMHI amounting to
P=0.01 million and  RMSI amounting to P=0.09 million.

Dividends income on the FVOCI amounted to P=8.42 million and P=3.36 million in 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

9. Investment in Associates

This account consists of an investment with the following movements:

2021 2020
Acquisition cost at beginning and end of year P=2,849,152 P=2,849,152
Accumulated equity in net losses
Balance at January 1 (1,021,532) (1,021,532)
Balance at December 31 (1,021,532) (1,021,532)
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance at January 1 (1,827,620) –
Current year provision for impairment loss – (1,827,620)
Balance at December 31 (1,827,620) (1,827,620)

P=– P=–

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company holds significant influence over MEADA
Rabrong, Plc. (MEADA) due to its representation in 18.73% of the board seats of MEADA.
However, MEADA experienced operational difficulties in 2020 that led to a material uncertainty to
continue as a going concern.  The Company assessed that the investment is already impaired and
provided 100% allowance on the carrying amount of the investment.
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10. Long-term Investment

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s long-term investments, which will mature on July 14, 2022
were reclassified to short-term investments. These are placements in CARD Bank, Inc., amounting to
P=3.90 million with a term of five (5) years that bear annual interest of 4.00%.  If withdrawn before
maturity, this earns interest based on the prevailing interest rate of CARD Bank, Inc. for regular
deposits. Interest income earned from these investments amounted to P=0.16 million in 2021 and 2020.

11. Property and Equipment

The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2021

Computer and
office equipment

Office
furniture and

fixture
Transportation

equipment

Right-of-use
assets

(Note 17)
Total

Cost
Balance at January 1 P=1,248,544 P=171,318 P=856,000 P=3,014,340 P=5,290,202
Additions 130,804 – – 773,776 904,580
Disposal (32,574) (856,000) (768,801) (1,657,375)
Balance at December 31 1,346,774 171,318 – 3,019,315 4,537,407
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at January 1 989,301 95,227 855,999 867,061 2,807,588
Depreciation 117,753 36,523 962,108 1,116,384
Disposal (32,574) (855,999) (768,801) (1,657,374)
Balance at December 31 1,074,481 131,750 – 1,060,368 2,266,599
Net Book Value P=272,293 P=39,568 P=– P=1,958,947 P=2,270,808

2020

Computer and
office equipment

Office
furniture and

fixture
Transportation

equipment

Right-of-use
assets

(Note 17)
Total

Cost
Balance at January 1 P=1,394,853 P=95,750 P=856,000 P=3,586,838 P=5,933,441
Additions 87,814 109,568 – 3,014,340 3,211,722
Disposal (234,123) (34,000) – (3,586,838) (3,854,961)
Balance at December 31 1,248,544 171,318 856,000 3,014,340 5,290,202
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at January 1 1,148,373 92,970 855,999 1,838,135 3,935,477
Depreciation 75,051 36,257 – 1,939,098 2,050,406
Disposal (234,123) (34,000) – (2,910,172) (3,178,295)
Balance at December 31 989,301 95,227 855,999 867,061 2,807,588
Net Book Value P=259,243 P=76,091 P=1 P=2,147,279 P=2,482,614

The cost of fully depreciated property and equipment still in active use amounted to P=0.92 million
and P=1.78 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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12. Investment Properties

The Company’s investment properties pertain to land held for capital appreciation and building
intended for leasing to third parties. The rollforward analysis of this account follows:

2021
Land Building Total

Cost
At beginning and end of year P=5,075,000 P=3,233,000 P=8,308,000
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 − 1,320,142 1,320,142
Depreciation − 323,300 323,300
At December 31 − 1,643,442 1,643,442
Net Book Value P=5,075,000 P=1,589,558 P=6,664,558

2020
Land Building Total

Cost
At beginning and end of year P=5,075,000 P=3,233,000 P=8,308,000
Accumulated Depreciation
At January 1 − 1,131,550 1,131,550
Depreciation − 188,592 188,592
At December 31 − 1,320,142 1,320,142
Net Book Value P=5,075,000 P=1,912,858 P=6,987,858

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, no investment property has been pledged as collateral or security
for any of the Company’s liabilities.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, all investment properties of the Company generate income.
Rental income on investment properties (included under ‘Other income’ in the statements of income)
in 2021 and 2020 amounted to P=0.28 million and P=0.25 million, respectively.

Direct operating expenses on investment properties in 2021 and 2020 included under ‘Depreciation’
and ‘Taxes and licenses’ in the statements of income amounted to P=0.33 million and P=0.20 million,
respectively.

13. Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

2021 2020
Financial Liabilities
Subscription payable (Note 15) P=4,287,500 P=4,687,500
Accrued expenses and provisions (Note 19) 2,317,810 2,473,203
Trade payables to related parties (Note 15) 1,191,301 778,380
Other payables 1,133,175 1,096,711
Scholarship fund 807,882 867,882
Unearned income (Note 15) 84,996 68,518

9,822,664 9,972,194

(Forward)
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2021 2020
Nonfinancial Liabilities
Due to government agencies P=3,911,902 P=5,186,998
Finance lease payable (Note 17) 1,730,225 1,888,596

5,642,127 7,075,594
P=15,464,791 P=17,047,788

Subscription payable pertains to the subscribed shares of the Company to CARD MRI Holdings, Inc.

Accrued expenses consist of accruals of operating expenses and employee benefits.

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.  These consist
mostly of premiums received from assured for payout to principal insurers of Kabuklod Plan, Sagip
Plan and CARD Care.

Other payables refer to payables to contract partners and micro insurance coordinators of the
Company.

Scholarship fund amounted to P=0.81 million and P=0.87 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. This is a scholarship grant to all qualified children of Microinsurance Coordinators and
Microinsurance Supervisors. Scholarship fund is given to scholars quarterly at P=3,000 each. The
scholarship fund will be paid until fully utilized.

Unearned income pertains to advance rental payment and commission paid to the Company.

Due to government agencies represents output VAT, withholding tax and payable for HDMF loan
and contribution.

14. Equity

Capital Stock
The roll forward analysis are as follows:

2021 2020
Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common Stock
Authorized 100,000 P=50,000,000 100,000 P=50,000,000

Issued and outstanding
Subscribed 100,000 50,000,000 100,000 50,000,000
Issued stocks for the year − − − −
At the end of the year 100,000 P=50,000,000 100,000 P=50,000,000
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Retained Earnings

Cash dividends
The Company’s BOD approved and ratified the declaration of cash dividends as follows:

2021 2020
Date of approval
Date of declaration April 30 September 30 February 28 August 31
Date of payment May 17 October 5 March 11 October 14
Number of stockholders as of
dividend declaration 35 35 35 35
Dividend per share P=150.00 P=100.00 P=250.00 P=300.00
Total amount P=15,000,000 P=10,000,000 P=25,000,000 P=30,000,000
Dividends paid P=15,000,000 P=10,000,000 P=25,000,000 P=30,000,000

15. Related Party Transactions

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, or if
the parties are subject to common control or common significant influence.  A related party may be
an individual or a corporate entity.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with related parties.  Significant
transactions with related parties follow:

2021
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
Affiliates
CPMI

Due to affiliate P= P=204,636
Unremitted premium for CPMI
products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 5,919
Billings 1,120,449
Payment 921,732

Due from affiliate 101,112
Expenses during CPMI Related
Activities On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 81,246
Billings 343,775
Collections 323,908

Commissions receivable 5,057,947
Uncollected Commission, Traditional
Insurances, CCAP & BINHI On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 12,901,471
Billings 81,452,364
Collections 89,296,973

Unearned commission 16,479

CARD MBA

Due to affiliate 370,092
Payment for expenses during CaMIA
related activities and DAKILA Claim On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 81,942
Billings 4,177,999
Payment 3,889,849

Due from affiliate –
Unremitted premium of CARD MBA
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 4,150
Billings 753,008
Collections 757,158

(Forward)
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2021
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
CARD, Inc.
Due to affiliate P= P=– Payment for service rendered of UtilityOn-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 214,853
Billings 9,631,925
Payment 9,846,778

Due from affiliate –
Insurance Premium of CARD Inc.
Employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 3,227,073
Collections 3,227,073

CARD Bank Inc.
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 2,046,848
Payment 2,046,848

Due from affiliate 1,460,832
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 6,074,160
Collections 4,613,328

Cash 3,433,277 Various transactions
On demand; interest at 0.25% to
1.50% for regular

Beginning 2,811,070
savings deposit and 3.50% for cash
equivalents

Deposit 84,703,707
Withdrawals 84,081,500

Interest Income 62,691
Interest earned on time deposits and
savings account

On-demand; interest at 0.25% to
1.50% Unsecured

Short term investment 9,338,884 Placement of funds on time deposits
On-demand; interest at 3.50% to
4% Unsecured

CARD SME
Due to affiliate –

Beginning –
Billings 1,787,030 On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured
Payment 1,787,030

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 2,864,621
Collections 2,864,621

Cash 2,165,778 Various transactions
Beginning 1,883,449
Deposit 28,273,777
Withdrawal 27,991,448

Interest Income 9,990
Interest earned on time deposits and
savings account

On-demand; interest at 1.50% to
3.75% Unsecured

Short term investment 9,509,990 Placement of funds on time deposits
On-demand; interest at 1.00% to
1.50% Unsecured

CMDI
Due to affiliate – Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 60,850
Payment 60,850

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 212,159
Collections 212,159

Mga Likha ni Inay
(MLNI)
Due to affiliate – Payment for MLNI products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 293,904
Payment 293,904

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premiums of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 90,976
Collections 90,976

(Forward)
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2021
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
Rizal Bank, Inc.
Due to affiliate P= P=– Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 1,005,456
Payment 1,005,456

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning -
Billings 1,908,911
Collections 1,908,911

RISE
Due from affiliate – Uncollected insurance premium of

employees
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning -
Billings 138,311
Collections 138,311

CMIT
Due to affiliate –

Payment for services rendered
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 3,061,275
Payments 3,061,275

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 177,008
Collections 177,008

CLFC
Due to affiliate – Payment for service rendered of UtilityOn-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 24,445
Billings 2,850,219
Payment 2,874,663

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 118,270
Collections 118,270

BotiCARD
Due to affiliate – Payment for BotiCARD products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 225,691
Payment 225,691

Due from affiliate –
Insurance premium of BotiCARD
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 128,527
Collections 128,527

BDSFI
Due to affiliate – Various transactions

Beginning –
Billings 505,750
Payment 505,750

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 103,652
Collections 103,652

RMSI
Due to affiliate 9,925 Unremitted premium for DAKILA On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 164,835
Billings 268,510
Payment 423,420

Due from affiliate 1,375
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 2,296
Billings 140,721
Collections 141,642

(Forward)
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2021
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
Commissions receivable P=– P=607,181 Uncollected premium for DAKILA On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 382,442
Billings 3,386,853
Collections 3,162,114

CARD MRI Hijos
Due to affiliate – Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 22,802
Payment 22,802

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 94,797
Collections 96,797

CARD MRI Publishing
House
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing;

UnsecuredBeginning -
Billings 475,950
Payment 475,950

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 118,446
Collections 118,446

EMPC
Due to affiliate – Various transactions

Beginning 4,710
Billings 3,190,941
Payment 3,195,651

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 170,849
Collections 170,849

FDS ASYA
Due to affiliate – nil On-demand; noninterest-bearing; Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings –
Payment –

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 85,832 Payment for insurance premium
Collections 85,832

CARD MRI Property
Holdings
Due to affiliate 3,251 Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing;

UnsecuredBeginning –
Billings 2,725,736
Payment 2,722,485

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 90,688
Collections 90,688

Subscription Payable 4,287,500

CARD Myanmar
Due from affiliate – nil On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings –
Collections –

CARD MRI Holdings
Due from affiliate – Payment for insurance premium On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 90,688
Collections 90,688

Subscription payable 4,287,500
Represents payable for the shares of
stock On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

(Forward)
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2021
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
PLI/GCLI

Due to affiliate P=– P=603,395
Unremitted premium for PLI/GCLI
Products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 282,126
Billings 5,879,095
Payment 5,557,826

PLI

Due to affiliate –
Unremitted premium for PLI/GCLI
Products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 14,365,880
Billings –
Payment 4,365,880

Due from affiliate 30,595
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 4,776
Billings 48,304
Collections 22,485

ASENSO
Due from affiliate - Return of subscription of common

share
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 2,805,660
Billings –
Collection 2,805,660

Astro Laboratories

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 196,969
Collection 196,969

Due to affiliate – Payments for services rendered On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured
Billings 7,143
Payments 7,143

CARD Microfinance Inc.
Due from affiliate – Payment for Insurance Premium On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured

Billings 74496
Payments 74496

2020
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
Affiliates
CPMI

Due to affiliate P= P=5,919
Unremitted premium for CPMI
products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 163,836
Billings 3,897,506
Payment 4,055,423

Due from affiliate 81,246
Expenses during CPMI Related
Activities On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 177,401
Billings 289,432
Collections 385,587

Commissions receivable 12,902,557
Uncollected Commission, Traditional
Insurances, CCAP & BINHI On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 29,570,865
Billings 82,116,332
Collections 98,784,639

CARD MBA

Due to affiliate 81,942
Payment for expenses during CaMIA
related activities and DAKILA Claim On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 565,119
Billings 2,213,018
Payment 2,696,195

Due from affiliate 4,150
Unremitted premium of CARD MBA
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 1,338,860
Billings 2,128166
Collections 3,462,875

(Forward)
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2020
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
CARD, Inc.
Due to affiliate P=– P=214,853 Payment for service rendered of UtilityOn-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 458
Billings 15,569,261
Payment 15,354,866

Due from affiliate –
Insurance Premium of CARD Inc.
Employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 46,281
Billings 5,852,797
Collections 5,899,078

CARD Bank Inc.
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 3,778,055
Payment 3,778,055

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 5,042,383
Collections 5,042,383

Cash 2,811,070 Various transactions
On demand; interest at 0.25% to
1.50% for regular

Beginning 6,657,294
savings deposit and 3.50% for cash
equivalents

Deposit 107,633,144
Withdrawals 111,479,368

Interest Income 67,261
Interest earned on time deposits and
savings account

On-demand; interest at 1.50% to
4.00% Unsecured

Short term investment – Placement of funds on time deposits On-demand; interest at 3.50% Unsecured

Long term investment 3,900,000
Placement of funds on long term
deposit On-demand; interest at 4.00% Unsecured

CARD SME
Due to affiliate -

Beginning 6,437
Billings 246,510 On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured
Payment 252,947

Due from affiliate -
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 199
Billings 2,434,080
Collections 2,434,279

Cash 1,883,449 Various transactions
Beginning 1,890,906
Deposit 31,395,919
Withdrawal 31,403,377

Interest Income 29,335
Interest earned on time deposits and
savings account

On-demand; interest at 1.50% to
3.75% Unsecured

Short term investment – Placement of funds on time deposits
On-demand; interest at 3.00% to
3.75% Unsecured

CMDI
Due to affiliate – Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 91,308
Payment 91,308

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 19,340
Billings 267,617
Collections 286,957

Mga Likha ni Inay
(MLNI)
Due to affiliate – Payment for MLNI products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 21,740
Billings 96,317
Payment 118,057

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premiums of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 10
Billings 98,422
Collections 98,432

(Forward)
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2020
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
Rizal Bank, Inc.
Due to affiliate P= P=– Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 1,344,007
Payment 1,344,007

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 12,044
Billings 1,554,802
Collections 1,566,846

Short term investment 2,333,964 Placement of funds on time deposits
On-demand; interest at 3.50% to
4.25% Unsecured

RISE
Due from affiliate – Uncollected insurance premium of

employees
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 57,214
Billings 86,128
Collections 143,342

CMIT
Due to affiliate –

Payment for services rendered
On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 4,094,434
Payments 4,094,434

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 138
Billings 203,346
Collections 203,484

CLFC
Due to affiliate 24,445 Payment for service rendered of UtilityOn-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 2,850
Billings 2,880,630
Payment 2,859,035

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 153,022
Collections 153,022

BotiCARD
Due to affiliate – Payment for BotiCARD products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 78,543
Payment 78,543

Due from affiliate –
Insurance premium of BotiCARD
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 117,382
Collections 117,382

BDSFI
Due to affiliate – Various transactions

Beginning –
Billings 1,147,562
Payment 1,147,562

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 118,811
Collections 118,811

RMSI
Due to affiliate 164,835 Unremitted premium for DAKILA On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 1,509,191
Billings 11,858,231
Payment 13,203,037

Due from affiliate 2,296
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 2,747
Billings 78,407
Collections 78,858

Commissions receivable 382,442 Uncollected premium for DAKILA On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured
Beginning 127,428
Billings 2,561,376
Collections 2,306,362

(Forward)
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2020
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
CARD MRI Hijos
Due to affiliate P= P=– Various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 13,038
Payment 13,038

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 91,939
Collections 91,939

CARD MRI Publishing
House
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing;

UnsecuredBeginning 923
Billings 98,919
Payment 99,843

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 83,657
Collections 83,657

EMPC
Due to affiliate 4,710 Various transactions

Beginning –
Billings 4,650,982
Payment 4,646,272

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning –
Billings 160,481
Collections 160,481

FDS ASYA
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing; Unsecured

Beginning 4,506
Billings –
Payment 4,506

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 0
Billings 82,731
Collections 82,731

CARD MRI Property
Holdings
Due to affiliate – Payment for various transactions On-demand; noninterest-bearing;

UnsecuredBeginning 1,244
Billings 7,073,430
Payment 7,0074,674

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 93,824
Collections 93,824

CARD Myanmar

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 73,949
Collections 73,949

CARD MRI Holdings

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Billings 73,889
Collections 73,889

Subscription payable 4,687,500
Represents payable for the shares of
stock On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

PLI/GCLI

Due to affiliate 282,126
Unremitted premium for PLI/GCLI
Products On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 938,448
Billings 9,584,525
Payment 10,240,847

(Forward)
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2020
Category Amount Outstanding  Nature  Terms Conditions
PLI

Due from affiliate P= P=4,776
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Beginning 14,928
Billings 12,097
Collections 22,249

ASENSO
Due from affiliate 2,805,660 Uncollected insurance premium of

employees and receivable for return of
invested funds

On-demand; noninterest-bearing Unsecured
Beginning 52,972
Billings 2,989,479
Collection 236,791

Astro Laboratories

Due from affiliate –
Uncollected insurance premium of
employees On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured

Beginning 56,993
Billings 99,558
Collection 156,522

Due to affiliate – Payments for services rendered On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured
Billings 7,143
Payments 7,143

CARD Microfinance Inc.
Due from affiliate – Payment for premiums On-demand; non-interest bearing Unsecured

Billings 72,663
Payments 72,663

In 2021 and 2020, short-term employee benefit compensation to the Company’s key management
personnel amounted to P=3.64 million and P=2.30 million, respectively.  Post-employment benefits
compensation to key management personnel amounted to P=6.15 million and P=5.87 million in 2021
and 2020, respectively.

There are no agreements between the Company and any of its directors and key officers involving
share-based payments or providing benefits upon termination of employment, except for such
benefits to which they may be entitled under the Company’s pension plans.

The above outstanding balances as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are summarized as follows:

2021 2020
Commission receivable (Note 6) P=5,665,130 P=13,512,854
Short-term investments (Note 5) 18,840,151 2,333,964
Cash in bank (Note 4) 5,599,055 4,694,519
Long-term investment (Note 10) – 3,900,000
Due from related parties (Note 6) 1,593,914 2,898,129
Subscription payable (Note 13) 4,287,500 4,687,500
Due to related parties (Note 13) 1,191,301 778,380
Unearned commission (Note 13) 16,479 –

16. Retirement Plan

The Company, CARD Bank, CARD Inc., CARD SME Bank, CARD MBA, CARD BDSFI, CMIT,
BotiCARD, CMDI, MLNI, CARD MRI RBI, CLFC, RISE, CMPMI, CMHTI, CMPuH and CARD
EMPC maintain a funded and formal noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan - the CARD
MRI Multi-Employer Retirement Plan (MERP) - covering all of their regular employees and CARD
Group Employees’ Retirement Plan (Hybrid Plan) applicable to employees hired on or after
July 1, 2016.  MERP is valued using the projected unit cost method and is financed solely by the
CMIT and its related parties.
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MERP and the Hybrid Plan comply with the requirements of RA No. 7641 (Retirement Law).  MERP
provides lump sum benefits equivalent to up to 120% of final salary for every year of credited
service, a fraction of at least six months being considered as one whole year, upon retirement, death,
total and permanent disability, or voluntary separation after completion of at least one year of service
with the participating companies.

The Hybrid Plan provides a retirement benefit equal to 100% of the member’s employer accumulated
value (the Parent Company’s contributions of 8% plan salary to Fund A plus credited earnings) and
100% of the member’s employee accumulated value (member’s own contributions up to 10% of plan
salary to Fund B plus credited earnings), if any.  Provided that in no case shall 100% of the employer
accumulated value in Fund A be less than 100% of plan salary for every year of credited service.

Total retirement expense in 2021 and 2020 related to the Hybrid Plan amounted to P=0.49 million and
P=0.34 million, respectively.
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The rollforward analysis of remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan follows:

2021 2020
At January 1 (P=1,635,685) (P=1,513,036)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan (181,514) (175,213)
Tax effect (Note 18) (71,456) 52,564
At December 31 (P=1,888,655) (P=1,635,685)

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining retirement liability for the Company’s
retirement plan are shown below:

2021 2020
Discount rate 5.07% 3.77%
Salary increase rate 5.00% 3.00%
Average remaining working life 27 27.3

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period,
assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

December 31, 2021
Increase

(decrease)
Effect on defined

pension plan
Discount rate +100 basis points (P=934,811)

-100 basis points 1,019,266

Salary rate +100 basis points 1,080,919
-100 basis points (934,716)

December 31, 2020
Increase

(decrease)
Effect on defined

pension plan
Discount rate +100 basis points (P=902,726)

-100 basis points 1,062,224

Salary rate +100 basis points 1,059,673
-100 basis points (917,167)

The fair value of net plan assets by each class is as follows:

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents P=4,965,727 P=5,516,243
Debt instruments in government bonds 5,235,100 4,892,865
Debt instruments in other bonds 680,136 182,365
Loans receivable 1,031,175 –
Investment in mutual funds – 58,404
Real estate – 996,452
Others 276,686 272,952

P=12,188,824 P=11,919,281
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The Retirement Trust Fund assets are valued by the fund manager at fair value using the
mark-to-market valuation.  The Company expects to contribute P=0.18 million to the defined pension
plan in 2022.

Shown below is the maturity analysis of undiscounted benefit payments:

2021 2020
Less than one year P=586,977 P=526,059
More than one year to five years 2,628,017 2,361,091
More than five years to ten years P=7,193,899 P=6,245,441

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is
10.2 years.

17. Leases

The Company leases vehicles and office spaces.  The lease contracts are for the periods ranging from
one (1) to three (3) years and are renewable upon mutual agreement between the Company and the
lessors such as CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation, CARD Mutual Benefit Association and
third-party lessors.

Rent expense amounted to P=1.72 million and P=0.07 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has no contingent rent payable.

Lease liability is presented under ‘Trade and other payables’.  Following are its movements:

2021 2020
Balance at beginning of year P=1,888,596 P=1,771,779
Additions 762,271 2,912,978
Interest expense 102,030 160,370
Payments (1,022,672) (2,252,739)
Pre-termination – (703,792)
Balance at end of year P=1,730,225 P=1,888,596

The following are the amounts recognized in the statements of income:

2021 2020
Depreciation expense of ROU assets included in

property and equipment (Note 11) P=962,108 P=1,939,098
Lease payments relating to short-term leases and

leases with low value assets 1,719,782 69,996
Interest expense on lease liabilities 102,030 160,370
Total amount recognized in statement of income P=2,783,920 P=2,169,464

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments:

2021 2020
Within one year P=1,022,673 P=1,016,724
Beyond one year 1,135,327 1,547,138

P=2,158,000 P=2,563,862
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18. Income Tax

The Company’s provision for income tax consists of:

2021 2020
Current P=13,831,351 P=17,768,933
Deferred (517,593) 449,579
Final 49,130 116,020

P=13,362,888 P=18,334,532

Income tax payable as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is nil and P=4.40 million, respectively.

The Company’s net deferred taxes relate to the tax effects of the following:

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets recognized in profit or loss

Unamortized past service cost P=674,664 P=972,722
Unearned commission income – –
Allowance for impairment loss 41,251 479,718
Right-of-use asset, net of lease liability 57,181 77,605

773,096 1,530,045
Deferred tax liabilities recognized in profit or loss:

Pension asset (1,126,615) 1,450,690
Net deferred tax asset in profit or loss (353,519) 79,355
Net deferred tax asset recognized in OCI

Remeasurement loss on net pension liability 629,552 701,008
P=276,033 P=780,363

The reconciliation of income tax at statutory income tax rate to effective income tax follows:

2021 2020
Statutory income tax P=17,814,164 P=17,111,823
Add (deduct) tax effects of:

Nontaxable income (2,104,883) (1,921,174)
Interest income already subjected to final tax (92,798) (204,365)
Nondeductible expense 266,034 732,114
Other nontaxable income (570,423) –

CREATE adjustment (1,949,206) –
Provision for income tax P=13,362,888 P=15,718,398

19. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

There were no commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities that arose in the normal course of
the Company’s operations which are not reflected in the Company’s financial statements.  As of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, management is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these
commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.
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20. Capital and Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 Credit risk
 Liquidity risk
 Market risk

Governance Framework
The Company manages the risks through its governance framework.  The primary objective of the
Company’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the Company’s shareholders from
events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing
to exploit opportunities.  Key management recognizes the critical importance of having efficient and
effective risk management systems in place.

The BOD approves the Company’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any
commercial, regulatory and organizational requirements of such policies.  These policies define the
Company’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate quality
and diversification of assets and specify reporting requirements.

Credit Risk
The Company manages its credit risk by constantly monitoring its credit exposure to counterparties.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure of the Company’s financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying values
as reflected in the statements of financial position and related notes.  The Company holds no
collateral and other credit enhancements against its credit risk exposure as at December 31, 2021 and
2020.

Concentration of credit risk
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or
other conditions.  The Company’s financial assets are concentrated to financial intermediaries.

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The Company’s financial instruments are with reputable financial institutions and related parties and
are deemed to be standard grade.  Standard grade is rated on entities that meet performance
expectation, unlikely to be affected by external factors and have competent management that uses
current business models.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s past due and impaired receivables amounted
to nil.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk arising from potential inability to meet obligations when they become due at
a reasonable cost and timely manner.  The Company manages liquidity risk by assessing the gap for
additional funding and determining the best source and cost of funds on a monthly basis.  To ensure
sufficient liquidity, the Company sets aside funds to pay currently maturing obligations which are
placed in credible banks.  Monitoring of daily cash position is being done to guide the management in
making sure that sufficient liquidity is maintained.  The Treasury Committee of CARD MRI reviews
monthly the liquidity position of the Company.
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The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the financial instruments of the Company based
on contractual undiscounted cash flow as at December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021

On demand
Due within 1

month
1 to 3

months
3 to 12

months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets*
Cash and cash equivalents** P=10,375,815 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=10,375,815
Short-term investments – 2,390,726 6,049,425 10,400,000 – 18,840,151
Loans and receivables 7,889,398 – – – – 7,889,398
Security deposits*** 556,657 – – – – 556,657
Financial assets at FVOCI – – – – 89,759,758 89,759,758
Long-term investment – – – – – –
Total financial assets P=18,821,870 P=2,390,726 P=6,049,425 P=10,400,000 P=89,759,758 P=127,421,779

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables P=15,464,791 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=15,464,791
Total financial liabilities 15,464,791 – – – –
Net undiscounted cash flows P=3,357,079 P=2,390,726 P=6,049,425 P=10,400,000 P=89,759,758 P=111,956,988
*Amounts includes accrued interests
**Excludes cash on hand
***Included in ‘Other assets’

2020

On demand
Due within 1

month
1 to 3

months
3 to 12

months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets*
Cash and cash equivalents** P=7,479,483 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=7,479,483
Short-term investments – 2,333,964 – – – 2,333,964
Loans and receivables 16,055,136 – – – – 16,055,136
Security deposits*** 683,578 – – – – 683,578
Financial assets at FVOCI – – – – 61,940,354 61,940,354
Long-term investment – – – – 3,900,000 3,900,000
Total financial assets P=24,218,197 P=2,333,964 P=– P=– P=65,840,354 P=92,392,515

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables P=21,379,978 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=21,379,978
Total financial liabilities 21,379,978 – – – – 21,379,978
Net undiscounted cash flows P=2,838,219 P=– P=– P=– P=65,840,354 P=71,012,537
*Amounts includes accrued interests
**Excludes cash on hand
***Included in ‘Other assets’

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, of fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes.

Aside from the discussion below, the Company has no significant exposure to market risk as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, commissions and
trade payables, accrued expenses and other payables, their fair values approximate the carrying values
as of the reporting date.

Cash - due to the short-term nature of the account, the fair value of cash approximate the carrying
amounts in the statements of financial position.
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Due to related parties - due to the short-term nature of the account, carrying amounts approximate
their fair values.

Accounts and other payables - fair values of accounts and other payables approximate their carrying
amounts in the statement of financial position due to the short-term nature of the transactions.

The main purpose of the Company’s financial instruments is to fund its operations and capital
expenditures.  The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk and
credit risk.  The Company does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative
purposes nor does it write options.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair

value are observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: techniques which uses inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that

are not based on observable market data

Fair values of the Company’s investment properties have been determined based on valuations
performed by independent external appraisers based on the recent sales of similar properties in the
same areas where the investment properties are located, taking into account the economic conditions
prevailing at the time the valuations were made and comparability of similar properties sold with the
property being valued.  The fair value of investment properties is based on its highest and best use,
which is their current use.

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets at fair value
through OCI and investment properties.

2021

Quoted Price in
Active Markets

Significant
Observable

Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Total
Assets for which fair value

is disclosed:
 Financial Asset

through OCI P=– P=– P=89,759,758 P=89,759,758
Investment properties – – 9,512,000 9,512,000

P=– P=– P=99,271,758 P=99,271,758

2020

Quoted Price in
Active Markets

Significant
Observable

Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Total
Assets for which fair value

is disclosed:
 Financial Asset

through OCI P=– P=– P=61,940,354 P=61,940,354
Investment properties – – 9,512,000 9,512,000

P=– P=– P=71,452,354 P=71,452,354
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Impact on fair value of level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value of changes to key
assumptions
The Company determines the fair value of its FVOCI financial assets using the dividend the capital
asset pricing model.  This method is based on inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for
the asset such as equity value derived from expected return from investments.

The assumptions above were used in the “Base Case” projections.  These assumptions were
individually changed (while holding other assumptions steady as in the Base Case) and the resulting
valuations derived, to show sensitivity of the valuation to various changes in assumptions.

Increase
(decrease)

Significant Unobservable
Input

Movement in
basis points

in fair value
2021

Equity value +500 basis points P=4,487,988
-500 basis points (P=4,487,988)

Increase
(decrease)

Significant Unobservable
Input

Movement in
basis points

in fair value
2020

Equity value +500 basis points P=1,773,673
-500 basis points (P=1,773,673)

21. Agency Agreement

The Company has agreements with various insurance companies to: (1) be the exclusive distributor of
Sagip Plan, Kabuklod Plan and CARD Care; (2) collect all premiums due on all insurance directly
solicited by and/or credited to the Company; and (3) remit premiums, taxes and charges collected for
a policy issued by Insurance Company.  Under the terms of these agreements, the Company is entitled
to remuneration equal to a percentage of the premiums written, net of taxes.  Expenses incurred in
connection with its brokerage services are for the Company’s account.

Commission income derived from brokerage services amounted to P=93.63 million and
P=86.49 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

22. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows

The Company’s noncash activity pertains to additions to ROU assets amounting to P=0.76 million and
P=2.91 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

23. Approval of the Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s BOD on
March 31, 2022.
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24. Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010

The Company reported and/or paid the following types of taxes in 2021:

a. Value added tax (VAT)

Input VAT
At January 1 P=142,567
Additional 1,143,347
Utilized (1,153,927)
At December 31 P=131,987

During the year, the Company declared Output VAT amounting to P=13.26 million arising from
the commission income received during the year.

b. Information on the Company’s importations
The Company does not undertake importation activities.

c. Taxes and Licenses
This includes all other taxes, local and national, including real estate taxes, licenses, and permit
fees lodged under the caption ‘Taxes and Licenses’ under the ‘Expenses’ section in the
Company’s statement of comprehensive income.

Local
Business permits P=48,391
Documentary stamp tax 123,405
Real property tax 9,281
LTO Registration 5,960
Others 16,462

P=203,499
National
SEC Articles of Incorporation Amendment P=–
BIR Registration fee 500

500
P=203,999

d. Withholding Taxes
Details of withholding taxes follow:

Total
Remittances

Amount
Outstanding

Withholding tax on compensation and benefits P=141,391 P=144,325
Expanded withholding taxes 714,995 85,402

P=856,386 P=229,727






